Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-20-2014

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Butcher Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41188

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This is an appeal from a District Court Order affirming the ruling of a Magistrate that granted summary judgment of eviction resulting in the ejectment of a homeowner from her residence after foreclosure sale. The homeowner ("Margaret Butcher, n/k/a McCluskey") contended below that the Trustee's Deed obtained at foreclosure sale was invalid and that Plaintiff-Respondent ("FHLMC" or "Freddie Mac") had no lawful claim for possession to her residence, which is the Subject Property.

Course of Proceedings Below. Freddie Mac filed this action in Magistrate's Court for ejectment of McCluskey from the Subject Property after having obtained a Trustee's Deed at a

¹ Defendants Peggy Butcher and Dennis Butcher divorced in 2009. Ms. Butcher received the residence at 10512 W. Achillea Street, Star, Idaho, 83669 ("Subject Property") as her sole and separate property in the divorce. Ms. Butcher married Randall McCluskey in 2013 and herein will be referred to by her married name.

foreclosure sale on May 16, 2011. Freddie Mac filed for summary judgment on September 28, 2011. After having the period for filing extended by the Court, Ms. McCluskey was denied by the Clerk of the District Court of Ada County the opportunity to file her Response to Summary Judgment on November 15, 2011; on that date she was only permitted to file a preprinted form of 'Answer' (R. Bates #130). During the hearing of November 22, 2011 she was permitted to 'bench file' her "Response to Motion for Summary Judgment," (see R. Bates #162, et seq.) but she had not received a copy of Freddie Mac's most recent filing, which was an Affidavit with new information and documents attached, that it was permitted to file on November 21, 2011 (see R. Bates #139).

Although the trial court indicated that he would consider all documents filed by her,

Judge Bieter proceeded to enter summary judgment on November 25, 2011 (see R. Bates #552)

prior to Ms. McCluskey's filing of her "Reply Memorandum" on December 5, 2011 (see Bates #557 et. Seq.).

The Certificate of Service (dated November 21, 2011, see R. Bates #133-138) clearly shows that the Ms. McCluskey did not have, before oral argument, adequate notice of Freddie Mac's Reply Memorandum or the Affidavit of Jeff Stenman and the new documents that accompanied it (R. Bates #139-160). She has indicated that she received them on November 23, 2011. Nevertheless, Judge Bieter assured her that he would consider all her court filings.

When Judge Bieter entered his November 25, 2011 Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Bates #552) he clearly did not consider Ms. McCluskey filings of December 5,

2011 (R. Bates #557). Thus, she did not have an opportunity to present rebuttal information nor was she in a position to make an effective oral argument at the summary judgment hearing.

Further, the trial court did not review and consider the documents she timely filed on December 5, 2011 (R. Bates #557) in response to the late-filed documents by Freddie Mac.

In her filings with the Magistrate's Court, Ms. McCluskey raised all the issues that are raised herein, but neither the Magistrate nor the District Court were able to perceive her argument.

Ms. McCluskey appealed the Magistrate's decision to the District Court which was erroneously affirmed and she appeals to this Court for *de novo* review based on a structural defect where she raised the disputed issues of material fact they were ignored or glossed over by both courts below because of an unspoken presumption of correctness attributed to the Freddie Mac.

Concise Statement of Facts. Ms. McCluskey and her former husband put \$80,000 down on the purchase of the Subject Property on December 15, 2005 (R. Bates # 000094) financing the balance of the purchase with a mortgage of \$147,900 through Home Federal Bank of Boise, Idaho. They also executed a Deed of Trust on December 14, 2005 (R. Bates # 000109).

Thereafter, Home Federal Bank, indorsed the Note "Without Recourse, Pay to the Order of WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A." (R. Bates #000096) signed "by Peg Mixdorf, Secondary Market Specialist III" of Home Federal Bank.

A second indorsement, confirming the first, appears on the next page of the Record at Bates #000097, with the same language: "Without Recourse, Pay to the Order of WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A." (R. Bates #000097).

An Assignment of Trust Deed was recorded in the mortgage records of Ada County, Idaho naming Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ("Wells Fargo") as the new beneficiary.

Ms. McCluskey's evidence showed that in 2008, after her divorce, she was informed by Wells Fargo to cease making payments as specified by the Note and to commence making payments under the terms of a loan modification program known as the "Home Affordable Modification Program" (or "HAMP"). HAMP was at that time supervised by Freddie Mac (R. Bates #000745).²

Ms. McCluskey alleged below that she complied exactly with the terms of the Wells Fargo loan modification by, (1) making every loan modification payment as agreed, (2) paying off a second mortgage to clear all liens from the Subject Property, and (3) declaring bankruptcy so that no other creditors could make a claim on her earned income, leaving it fully available to make the loan modification payments.

² "...FREDDIE MAC SERVES AS THE PROGRAM'S COMPLIANCE AGENTFOR ALL GSE OWNED OR GUARANTEED LOANS, SERVICER PARTICIPATIONIS REQUIRED." Sec 4 pg 39 Attorney General's Report on the Idaho Housing Crisis and How Stakeholders Can Facilitate Cooperative Solutions Consumer Protection Div. Lawrence Wasden, Attorney General, FEB 2011. "Compliance Agent: Freddie Mac acting as a financial agent of the United States Department of the Treasury will manage the compliance and monitoring of Servicer performance under the Program, including performance in accordance with Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae requirements." C65.3: Delegation of Authority (04/21/09).

Ms. McCluskey claimed in the Magistrate's Court and on appeal to the District Court that she was not in default of her mortgage as of the foreclosure date of May 16, 2011 because of her compliance with the HAMP program sponsored by Wells Fargo and supervised by Freddie Mac. It was Ms. McCluskey's contention that since Freddie Mac was the compliance agent for HAMP and since Freddie Mac regulated Wells Fargo it was charged with notice of her compliance in respect to Wells Fargo's loan modification program.

A key feature of the HAMP program is that the banks under Freddie Mac's regulation including Wells Fargo are prohibited from "Dual Tracking," i.e., proceeding with foreclosure while implementing a loan modification. (R. Bates #287-295.)

Freddie Mac asserted that it was a bona fide purchaser for value of the Note and therefore had no notice as to any of McCluskey's defenses with respect to the mortgage loan on the Subject Property. Part of Freddie Mac's claim was that it became the successor lender to Wells Fargo having the right to purchase the Subject Property by credit bid at the foreclosure sale auction. (R. Plaintiff's Complaint, Bates #s 000006, at ¶ I, and 000117 and 000137). There is no dispute in this proceeding that Freddie Mac purchased the property by credit bid at the Trustee's Sale of May 16, 2011 (R. Bates #554, ¶ 10.)

By claiming that it was a bona fide purchaser for value of the Note, Freddie Mac was claiming that it had protection under the shelter rules of I.C. §§45-1508 and 45-1510. A question of fact was raised by Ms. McCluskey whether Freddie Mac could be both a bona fide purchaser and the successor lender, since the two are mutually exclusive.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether Ms. McCluskey, in the Magistrate's Court, raised a dispute as to a material fact that Freddie Mac's claim of possession fails as a matter of law because it did not comply with I.C. §45-1505(1) prior to the foreclosure sale.
- 2. Whether Ms. McCluskey, in the Magistrate's Court, raised a dispute as to a material fact that Freddie Mac was not the holder of the Note at the time of the foreclosure sale showing that it was not entitled to purchase the Subject Property by credit bid.
- 3. Whether Ms. McCluskey's right to due process of law prior to being deprived of her property by foreclosure sale was violated by the trial court when it denied her a full and fair opportunity to litigate her claims and defenses to the summary judgment which were aimed at raising disputed issues of material fact.
- 4. Whether Freddie Mac was entitled to claim the status of a bona fide purchaser for value under the shelter rules of I.C. §§45-1508 and 45-1510 when it was the successor lender that offered a credit bid at the May 16, 2011 Trustee's Sale and whether such assertion was in violation of I.C. §45-1506(9).
- 5. Whether there was a question of fact presented to the Magistrate as to whether Freddie Mac had a valid interest in the Subject Property as a result of the foreclosure sale when it violated its own rules and regulations against Dual-Tracking by participating in foreclosure on the Subject Property.
- 6. Whether the Magistrate lacked jurisdiction over this case because Freddie Mac was not the lawful owner of a right of possession of the Subject Property.

ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1: Whether Ms. McCluskey, in the Magistrate's Court, raised a dispute as to a material fact that Freddie Mac's claim of possession fails as a matter of law because it did not comply with I.C. §45-1505(1) prior to the foreclosure sale.

Summary of Argument No. 1: The Trial Court erred in awarding possession of the Subject Property by summary judgment to Freddie Mac when there was a genuine issue of disputed fact whether Freddie Mac had complied with I.C. § 45-1505(1) requiring the recording of all Assignments of the Trust Deed in the mortgage records of the county where the property is located prior to foreclosure and since there was no recorded assignment from Wells Fargo to Freddie Mac, therefore the property sale and the Trustee's Deed are void ab initio, because it was a law violation for Freddie Mac to purchase the Subject Property by credit bid without having complied with said statute.

When a mortgage lender seeks to foreclose on a property, it has the choice to pursue a judicial foreclosure, or to foreclose non-judicially. Non-judicial foreclosure is often quicker and more cost effective and generally favored by mortgage lenders. Judicial foreclosure is overseen by an objective court, ensuring that all proper foreclosure requirements have been met by both parties and that the Foreclosure is lawful and fair to both parties.

Non-judicial foreclosure does not provide the same judicial oversight where injustice may occur with less sophisticated parties; hence, the Idaho Supreme Court has held that in a non-judicial foreclosure, strict compliance³ with the Idaho Foreclosure Act⁴ (the "Act") is required. In order to prevent foreclosure injustice, the Idaho Legislature enacted a very specific foreclosure statute known as the Idaho Foreclosure Act (the "Act"). A mortgage lender, by choosing to foreclose non-judicially, may benefit by a faster, more cost efficient foreclosure process, but to balance the greater likelihood that shortcuts or and to prevent corruption, it must strictly comply with Idaho's foreclosure statutes (see fn 3).

One provision of the Act is I.C. § 45-1505(1) which provides that prior to foreclosure, the trust deed and "any assignments of that trust deed...by the beneficiary" must be recorded in the mortgage records of the county where the property is located. There was initial compliance with this statute when the Assignment of Trust Deed from Home Federal Bank, as the original beneficiary, assigned the Deed of Trust to Wells Fargo. However, in order for Freddie Mac to claim that it was a creditor of Ms. McCluskey so that it could make a "credit bid," at the non-

³ Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Appel, 143 Idaho 42, 44, 137 P.3d 429,431 (2006).

⁴ Idaho Code § 45-1501, et. Seq.

judicial foreclosure sale on the Subject Property it needed to show that it was the holder of the Note and that there had been strict compliance with the Act in order to for the foreclosure and resulting foreclosure sale to be valid. (See Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Appel 143 Idaho 42, 44, 137 P.3d 429, 431 (2006).

The Subject Property was scheduled for foreclosure on May 16, 2011 upon the Notice of Default by Wells Fargo, as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as holder of the Note according to other disclosure documents, such as the Notice of Trustee's Sale. Wells Fargo, not Freddie Mac, is the entity indentified as the holder of the beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust according to the Notice of Default and other foreclosure Documents. In compliance with I.C. § 45-1505(1) an Assignment of Deed of Trust to Wells Fargo was recorded (Trial Record "Tr." at Bates # 265).

The Promissory Note was originally made Payable to Home Federal Bank, but contains two specific indorsements both of which direct payment to the order of Wells Fargo (Tr. at Bates #s 96 and 97).⁵

As of the date of the Trustee's Sale, the current note holder and beneficiary on the Trust Deed was Wells Fargo, making it the only party entitled to issue a credit bid at auction for a non-judicial foreclosure sale under the Act. *See Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Appel* 143 Idaho 42, 44 137 P.3d 429,431 (2006). The Trustee's Deed⁶ shows that Purchaser of the Property at the foreclosure sale was not Wells Fargo, but was Freddie Mac. There is no Assignment of Trustee's Deed in favor of Freddie Mac recorded in the real estate and mortgage

⁶ Trustee's Deed R. at Bates #74 and 159-160.

⁵ The language of the two indorsements reads as follows: first at R. Bates # 96; second, at R. Bates #97.

records of Ada County, Idaho.⁷ FREDDIE MAC has admitted that they purchased the property via credit bid at the foreclosure sale.⁸ Pursuant to this Court's holding in *Appel*, only the current note holder has the right to purchase the property by a credit bid, and all other purchasers must pay cash. Since FREDDIE MAC did not pay cash, but submitted a credit bid when it was neither the current Note holder nor beneficiary on the Trust Deed, the foreclosure sale was not valid and was void. Since the foreclosure sale was not valid, the Trustee's Deed is not valid, and must be set aside. Therefore, Freddie Mac had no right to possession of the Subject Property, and the Trial Court erred when it granted it Motion for Summary Judgment awarding it a Writ of Ejectment.

These arguments and issues of fact were brought to the Magistrate's and District court's attention in the previous ejectment hearings, but were not considered by either court. Ms. McCluskey presented evidence to the Magistrate showing that Respondent was not entitled to purchase the property by credit bid because Freddie Mac was not the owner of Ms. McCluskey's Promissory Note as of the date of the foreclosure sale and that there was no Assignment of Deed of trust in favor of Freddie Mac recorded in the mortgage records of Ada County. Wells Fargo was the holder of the note by indorsement and the one entitled to enforce it (not Freddie Mac) and Wells Fargo was the only entity entitled to purchase Ms. McCluskey's residence by credit bid at the foreclosure sale.

Ms. McCluskey made a showing that there was, at a minimum, a material issue of disputed fact whether Respondent had a legal right to claim possession of the Subject Property in

⁷ Affidavit of Peggy Butcher, R. at Bates #642.

⁸ Freddie Mac's admission that it purchased the Subject Property by credit bid R. Bates #117.

the ejectment action before the Magistrate or whether there was a violation related to the issuance of the Trustee's Deed at the foreclosure sale making said deed void or voidable. This question of fact by itself should have blocked the entry of summary judgment.

Issue No. 2: Whether Ms. McCluskey, in the Magistrate's Court, raised a dispute as to a material fact that Freddie Mac's was not the holder of the Note at the time of the foreclosure sale showing that it was not entitled to purchase the Subject Property by credit bid.

Summary of Argument No. 2: The Trial Court erred in awarding possession of the Subject Property to Freddie Mac by summary judgment because there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Freddie Mac was the holder of the Note, when there was no specific indosement from Wells Fargo and there was no indorsement on the Note 'in blank;' therefore, Wells Fargo (and not Freddie Mac) was the only party with authority to offer a credit bid at the foreclosure sale and receive a Trustee's Deed.

Wells Fargo Bank was the proper holder of the Note at the time of the foreclosure sale, and therefore was the only party with authority to offer a credit bid at the foreclosure sale (not Freddie Mac).

Ms. McCluskey raised the issue of ownership of the Note in the Magistrate Court given that Freddie Mac filed a copy of the Note with to indorsements on it, both of which showed that the Note had been indorsed to Wells Fargo (R. Bates #s 96 and 97); however, the Magistrate failed to properly consider the affidavits, pleadings and arguments presented, and erroneously awarded Summary Judgment in favor of Freddie Mac in spite of the fact that, at a minimum, there was a question as to a genuine issue of material fact as to which party was the holder of the Note.

Under the Idaho UCC, a promissory note is a "negotiable instrument". I.C. § 28-3-104(5). Negotiable instruments may be passed from one holder to another by negotiation, transfer and

indorsement. I.C. §§ 28-3-201, 28-3-203, 28-3-204. The UCC further provides that a note may be indorsed to a specific person, or may contain an indorsement in blank. A special endorsement becomes payable to the identified person, and can only be enforced by that person. I.C. § 28-3-205.

The Note presented by the Plaintiff in the present case, was originally made Payable to Home Federal Bank, but contains two specific indorsements with payment to the "order of Wells Fargo Bank, NA" and does not contain an indorsement "in blank." As such the then current note holder was "Wells Fargo Bank, N.A." not Freddie Mac. As the current Note holder, creditor and named beneficiary on the Assignment of Trust Deed, only Wells Fargo was entitled to issue a credit bid at auction by a non-judicial foreclosure sale. All other parties if purchasing the property at the foreclosure sale are required to pay cash. I.C. § 45-1508, and see *Appel*, supra. As a result, Freddie Mac did not have legal standing to place a credit bid and the improper acceptance of Freddie Mac's erroneous credit bid, and issuance of the Trustee's Deed to Freddie Mac, invalidated the sale.

These issues and argument were brought to the attention of the court of the Magistrate and District Judge, but were not properly considered. Ms. McCluskey asserted that the evidence Respondent presented to the Magistrate misled the judge into believing that Respondent was the holder of the Promissory Note by virtue of an indorsement "in blank" (see R. Bates # 70, O'Neill Affidavit see Bates #s 96 and 97, where there are two indorsements back to back, neither of which are "in blank") It appears that Freddie Mac was asking the trial court to assume, without any further evidence that somehow, within those endorsements, one of them constituted an

endorsement in blank. However, both are UCC specific endorsements of a negotiable instrument designating "Wells Fargo Bank, N.A." as the indorsee⁹). In fact, as has been explained herein the Respondent has never provided a copy of the Note showing that was indorsed in blank. The only Note presented contains specific indorsements to Wells Fargo, not to Freddie Mac. (Id.)

Consequently, only Wells Fargo could present a credit bid, and any other entity would be required to pay cash. There is no information in the record that connects Freddie Mac with Wells Fargo making them the same entity authorizing Freddie Mac to present a credit bid on behalf of Wells Fargo. Under the plan providing for non-judicial foreclosure pursuant to the Act, once Wells Fargo offered its credit bid, as the true creditor, it could assign its rights to Freddie Mac; but, that is not what happened here.

Ms. McCluskey asserts that this is not a mere formality to point out the erroneous credit bid and transfer to Freddie Mac failed to meet the standards set by Idaho Code. Ms. McCluskey had real defenses to Wells Fargo's assertion of a credit bid at the foreclosure sale. For instance, she had the right to assert that she was not in default as against Wells Fargo, which defense, *inter alia*, she attempted to assert before the Magistrate Court. In fact, Wells Fargo's records showed she had paid exactly as agreed, which means Wells Fargo was not entitled to foreclose; however, by a pretended indorsement in blank, Wells Fargo and Freddie Mac, acting in concert with each other were able to erroneously foreclose on the Subject Property and avoid the question of payment, which Freddie Mac claims does not apply to it because it is a bona fide purchaser.

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