UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-19-2014

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Butcher Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41188

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

The Court specifically finds that Ms. Butcher's brief violates the dictates of the Idaho Appellate Rules and will not perform Ms. Butcher's work for her in this appeal...

(R. 987-999.)

As correctly noted by the district court, the requirements applicable to an appeal and the standards applicable to *pro se* litigants are no different than the standards applicable to attorneys. Appellant's failure to comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules including her failure to identify issues on appeal and to direct the district court's attention to error in the underlying magistrate court's decision were fatal to her appeal before the district court,⁴ and no different than if she had remained silent. *Woods v. Sanders*, 150 Idaho 53, 58, 244 P.3d 197, 201 (2010)(noting that the Court will not consider any issue on appeal which was not raised below). Appellant ultimately left the district court in the position of having to search the record for error which is not its job and which is never presumed on appeal. *Idaho Power Co., v. Cogeneration, Inc.,* 134 Idaho 738, 745, 9 P.3d 1204, 1211 (2000). Rather, it was Appellant's burden of showing error, a burden she wholly failed to meet. *Id.*

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should decline to review the issues presented on appeal because they were not properly identified, raised, and supported before the district court sitting its appellate capacity below and Appellant should not be allowed to cure her previous deficiencies by simply filing another appeal. To so allow would render the role of the district court and the Idaho Rules of Appellate Procedure superfluous and create a proposition that a

⁴ "Issues that are not argued and supported as required by the Appellate Rules are deemed to have been waived." *Bettwieser v. New York Irrigation Dist.*, 154 Idaho 317, 326, 297 P.3d 1134, 1143 (2013); *citing to Suitts v. Nix*, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005)).

litigant need not comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules on appeal before the district court because its decision can be simply appealed to this Court and any errors corrected without any repercussions.

III. <u>APPELLANT HAS WAIVED ALL OF HER ISSUES ON APPEAL BY FAILING</u> <u>TO HAVE RAISED THEM BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT AND BY FAILING</u> <u>TO ARGUE OR SUPPORT THEM AS REQUIRED BY THE IDAHO</u> <u>APPELLATE RULES.</u>

Even if Appellant is not deemed to have waived her right to appeal due to her failure to comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules on appeal to the district court, there are separate grounds for this Court to find waiver. Specifically, Appellant identifies six separate issues on appeal, the first three of which are entirely new arguments not appropriately raised below and the other three of which lack any argument or authority in compliance Idaho Appellate Rule 35(a)(6). As is discussed in greater detail below, all of these issues are deemed to have been waived and should not be consider as part of the present appeal.

A. <u>Appellant's first and second issues on appeal are deemed to have been</u> waived because she failed to raise them before the magistrate court.

Appellant's first and second issues on appeal seek to challenge Freddie Mac's right to enter a credit bid in the underlying Trustee's sale. These issues were not raised before the magistrate court and thus cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

Idaho law clearly provides that a litigant may not remain silent as to a claimed error and later raise objections for the first time on appeal. *Michalk v. Michalk*, 148 Idaho 224, 230, 220 P.3d 580, 587 (2009); *citing to Mackowiak v. Harris*, 146 Idaho 864, 866, 204 P.3d 504, 506 (2009). Thus, the Court will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.*, 148 Idaho

at 232, 204 P.3d at 588. "Additionally, substantive issues will not be considered for the first time on appeal." *Id.; citing to Barmore v. Perrone*, 145 Idaho 340, 343, 179 P.3d 303, 306 (2008). Accordingly, the Idaho Supreme Court will not consider any issue on appeal that was not properly preserved during trial. *Michalk*, 148 Idaho at 230, 220 P.3d at 586.

In the case at hand, Appellant in a wholly conclusory fashion alleges that she "presented evidence to the Magistrate showing that Respondent was not entitled to purchase the property by credit bid because Freddie Mac was not the owner of [appellant's] Promissory Note as of the date of the foreclosure sale and that there was no Assignment of Deed of trust in favor of Freddie Mac recorded in the mortgage records of Ada County." (Appellant's Brief, pg. 9, ¶ 1.) Similarly, she contends that she raised "the issue of ownership of the Note in the Magistrate Court..." (*Id.*, pg. 10.) Noticeably lacking from Appellant's conclusory assertions, is any citation to the record demonstrating that she in fact raised these issues before the magistrate court, such that they can now be raised on appeal. This is ultimately because the record reveals that she made no such argument before the magistrate court and is thus barred from raising the issue now.

In fact, the district court in upholding the magistrate court's ruling was troubled by Appellant's same attempt to raise new issues on appeal before it. The court transcript from the hearing before the district court specifically shows that both Appellant and her counsel were specifically asked to point the court to the record showing where Freddie Mac's right to enter a credit bid was ever argued or put at issue before the magistrate court and they were unable to do so. (Tr., p 36:20-45:8.) Following oral argument, the district court then issued a written ruling

confirming the same and noting that "[Appellant] did not assert before the magistrate that [Freddie Mac] could not make a credit bid; she argued that the credit bid was not proper and that it was too low." (R. 993-994.) A review of the magistrate court's Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment confirms the same and evidences that the only issue before it was whether a credit bid was a valid means to purchase property at a Trustee's sale under Idaho law, which pursuant to *Federal Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Appel*, 143 Idaho 42 (2006), the Magistrate Court found it was. (R. 557.)

Ultimately, it is not the job of this Court or Respondent to search the record for error or for support for Appellant's contentions.⁵ That is ultimately her burden and a burden which she has not and cannot meet. Similarly, issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, which is exactly what Appellant is attempting to do here. Based upon the foregoing, the Court should decline to review these issues on appeal.

B. <u>Appellant's third issue on appeal is deemed to have been waived because</u> she failed to raise the issue in the proceedings below.

Appellant's third issue on appeal, which alleges that she was denied a full and fair opportunity to litigate her claims and defenses to Freddie Mac's motion for summary judgment is similarly waived because she failed to ever raise this issues in the proceedings below.

As noted above, a litigant may not remain silent as to a claimed error and later raise objections for the first time on appeal. *Michalk v. Michalk*, 148 Idaho 224, 230, 220 P.3d 580, 587 (2009); *citing to Mackowiak v. Harris*, 146 Idaho 864, 866, 204 P.3d 504, 506 (2009). "A

⁵ As noted by the Honorable Judge Sticklen, a party cannot "come into court and say a lot of stuff and file a few pounds of pleadings and expect to – expect the court to sort it out." (Tr., p.44:13-16.)

party's failure to object to an action by the trial court precludes a party from challenging that action on appeal." *Id.*, 148 Idaho at 231, 220 P.3d 587. "For an issue to be appealable to this Court, there must have been an adverse ruling by the lower court. *Id.*, 148 Idaho at 234, 220 P.3d at 590; *citing to McPheters v. Maile*, 138 Idaho 391, 397, 64 P.3d 317, 323 (2003).

In the case at hand, Appellant, for the first time argues that her due process rights were violated by the magistrate court. Appellant contends that the magistrate court's issuance of a written ruling granting summary judgment before Appellant filed another 60+ page "Motion Re: Reply Memorandum," on December 5, 2011 was in error and that she was cut off in oral argument and thus deprived her day in court. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 15, \P 1.) Consistent with her lack of citation to the record to support her other issues on appeal, Appellant makes her assertions here with absolutely no citations to the record including any evidence from the record that she ever raised her purported legal issues in the proceedings below either through appropriate motion with the magistrate court or on appeal to the district court. This is ultimately because she did neither and is attempting to raise this argument for the first time on appeal.

Specifically, the record shows that Appellant was given ample time to submit briefing in opposition to Respondent's motion for summary judgment, with the motion and memorandum having been filed on September 28, 2011 and a hearing not held till November 1, 2011, during which time Appellant submitted no opposition. (R. 128-131.) Rather, Appellant showed up at the November 1, 2011 hearing requesting additional time, which counsel for Freddie Mac stipulated to, moving the hearing date to November 22, 2011. (R. 128-131.) On the day of the November 22, 2011 hearing, the Court then accepted hundreds of documents that Appellant

compiled and submitted in opposition to Freddie Mac's motion. (R. 163-554.) The Court informed Appellant that it would review her materials, which its written Order granting summary Judgment confirms that it did. (R. 555.) Specifically, the magistrate court noted that "the Court has indeed considered all of the documents in the attachment submitted by Ms. Bucher and asks the clerk of the court to treat it as part of the record. The motion is now fully presented to the Court for decision." (*Id.*)

The record shows that Appellant did not object to the magistrate court's order as being premature nor did she ever seek leave to file her December 5, 2011 brief, which was not otherwise allowed for under I.R.C.P. 56(c).⁶ (R. 2-3.) The record shows that Appellant did not seek to strike Freddie Mac's reply which she now contends that she did not receive until after the summary judgment hearing nor did she ask that the magistrate court not consider the filing or request additional time to respond to the filing. (*Id.*) Similarly, the record shows that Appellant did not seek reconsideration of the magistrate court's order in light of the additional briefing she submitted. (R. 2-3.) Ultimately, the record is devoid of any such requests because Appellant made none. Instead, on December 9, 2011, four days after the filing of her December 5, 2011 memorandum, Appellant elected to file a 22 page Notice of Appeal to the district court. (R. 624-645.) The record before the district court is similarly void of any evidence that Appellant ever raised her "due process" argument or concerns before the District Court. In fact, Appellant

⁶ I.R.C.P. 56(c) allows for the filing of a moving brief, an answering brief and a reply brief. "It is within the court's discretion whether to consider supplemental briefing, beyond those allowed in the Court Rules." *Willnerd v. Sybase, Inc.*, 2011 WL 652539 (D. Idaho 2011).

failed to raise any alleged issues of having been denied the full and fair opportunity to litigate her claims.

Additionally, contrary to Appellant's characterization that she was cut off during her oral argument the transcript from that hearing clearly shows that the magistrate court gave Appellant ample time to make her arguments and attempted to try to get Appellant to narrow her comments to only those issues presented in the case. (*See* Tr., p. 10:13-16:24.) Ultimately, the magistrate court asked Appellant on a number of occasions whether she had additional arguments giving her ample opportunity to present those arguments before concluding the hearing. (*Id.*, p. 13:5, 14:9, 15:18, 16:5.) Similarly, Appellant points to nothing in the record which indicates she ever raised this issue before the district court and in fact, nothing in the transcript from the appeal hearing before the district court, shows that it was. (Tr., p. 17:3-26:25, 35:15-43:18.)

Again, the present appeal is not the proper place for Appellant to raise new arguments for the first time. Idaho law is clear that by failing to raise this issue below, she is now barred from doing so now. As such, the Court should decline to review Appellant's third issue on appeal.

C. <u>Appellant's fourth, fifth, and sixth issues on appeal are also deemed to</u> <u>have been waived because they are not properly argued or supported as</u> <u>required by I.A.R. 35(a)(6).</u>

Appellant's fourth, fifth, and sixth issues on appeal should also be deemed to have been waived because they are not properly argued or supported as required by the Idaho Appellate Rules.

I.A.R. 35(a)(6) provides that "the argument shall contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented on appeal, the reasons therefor, with citations to the

authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript relied upon." This Court has held that "issues that are not argued and supported as required by the Appellate Rules are deemed to have been waived. Bettwieser v. New York Irrigation Dist., 154 Idaho 317, 326, 297 P.3d 1134, 1143 (2013); citing to Suitts v. Nix, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005)). Similarly, issues on appeal that are not supported by propositions of law or authority are deemed waived and will not be considered. Michalk v. Michalk, 148 Idaho 224, 230, 220 P.3d 580, 587 (2009)(emphasis added); citing to Wheeler v. Idaho Dept. of Health Welfare, 147 Idaho 257, 266, 207 P.3d 988, 997 (2009). The reasoning behind such a rule "lies in the fact that it is the appellant who has asserted error on the part of the [trial court]. Absent compliance with the rules, this Court will not search the record for error. Error is never presumed on appeal and the burden of showing it is on the party asserting it." Idaho Power Co., v. Cogeneration, Inc., 134 Idaho 738, 745, 9 P.3d 1204, 1211 (2000). Thus "regardless of whether an issue is explicitly set forth in the party's brief as one of the issues on appeal, if the issue is only mentioned in passing and not supported by an cogent argument or authority, it cannot be considered by this Court. Liponis v. Bach, 149 Idaho 372, 374, 237 P.3d 696, 698 (2010); citing to Inama v. Boise Coutny ex rel. Bd. Of Comm'rs, 138 Idaho 324, 330, 63 P.3d 450, 456 (2003).

With the foregoing in mind, Appellant has failed to comply with I.A.R. 35(a)(6) with respect to her fourth, fifth, and sixth issues on appeal. Beyond merely repeating the issues in the section heading and then providing a conclusory summary of her argument, Appellant's opening brief provides no justification for reaching her stated conclusion, no citations to any authority, controlling or otherwise, and no citations to the record or transcript relied upon including

citations establishing that she ever raised the identified issues before either the magistrate court or the district court on appeal such that they can be validly raised now. *See Michalk v. Michalk*, 148 Idaho 224, 232, 220 P.3d 580, 588 (2009); *citing to Mackowiak v. Harris*, 146 Idaho 864, 866, 204 P.3d 504, 506 (2009).

Ultimately, neither Respondent nor the Court has any indication of the basis of Appellant's arguments. Appellant provides no authority or citations to the record to even begin to determine what her argument may be or what it may be based upon and as such, Respondent has no meaningful opportunity to respond. For the above reasons, the Court should decline to review Appellant's fourth, fifth, and sixth issues presented on appeal which are barred by her failure to comply with Idaho Appellate Rule 35(a)(6).

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION MUST BE AFFIRMED AS A MATTER OF PROCEDURE BECAUSE THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW FOLLOW FROM THOSE FINDINGS.

Even if this Court declines to find that Appellant has waived the issues she is now attempting to raise on appeal, Appellant appears to only challenge the magistrate court's ruling and district court's approval of that ruling on one ground, which was whether Freddie Mac could submit a credit bid at the sale.⁷ As noted above, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal by failing to raise it before the magistrate court such that it had the opportunity to review and

⁷ Contrary to Appellant's assertion that the Magistrate Court was somehow required to look at Note Ownership in determining the effect of a Trustee's Deed, this Court in *Trotter v. Bank of New York Mellon*, ruled that there is no requirement to prove standing in non-judicial foreclosures such as the one that occurred in this case and Appellant's argument is nothing more than an after-the-fact attempt to create such requirement, where none otherwise exists. *Trotter v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 225 P.3d 857 (2012).

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